Filed 03-24-2023

Page 1 of 33

RECEIVED 03-24-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

### IN SUPREME COURT

Nos. 2022AP92-CR, 2022AP93-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

ν.

DEBRA L. RIPPENTROP and STEVEN E. RIPPENTROP,

Defendant-Respondent.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JENNIFER L. VANDERMEUSE Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1070979

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1740 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) vandermeusejl@doj.state.wi.us

##

### INTRODUCTION

This appeal concerns the validity of a verbal agreement between a former district attorney and two people subject to a criminal investigation. This case also concerns whether the trial court properly dismissed two criminal cases with prejudice, in order to discipline a former district attorney for misconduct.

Steven and Debra Rippentrop were charged with false endangering safety, second-degree recklessly imprisonment, physical abuse of a child, and mental harm to a child, all as a party to a crime. (R. 1.)1 The charges stemmed from allegations of serious abuse against their adopted son, "Mark." While the Juneau County Sheriff's Office and District Attorney's Office investigated the allegations, Juneau County corporation counsel initiated a Children in Need of Protection or Services (CHIPS) proceeding, and later a termination of parental rights (TPR) proceeding, against the Rippentrops with respect to Mark.

Former Juneau County District Attorney Michael Solovey decided that it would be in Mark's best interest not to return to the Rippentrop home. He made an offer to the Rippentrops and their attorney, whereby he agreed not to bring criminal charges if they would voluntarily terminate their parental rights to Mark. The Rippentrops agreed. The agreement was never put in writing, and neither Solovey nor the Rippentrops disclosed its specific terms to relevant county officials. The Rippentrops terminated their parental rights,

<sup>1</sup> Unless otherwise indicated, citations to the record are to Case No. 2022AP92-CR, State v. Debra L. Rippentrop. Duplicate copies of the cited documents are available in the record for Case No. 2202AP93-CR, State v. Steven E. Rippentrop.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This brief refers to the victim by a pseudonym. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.86(4).

but they did not disclose to the TPR court that they had entered into this agreement.

After Solovey left office, the new Juneau County District Attorney commenced criminal complaints against the Rippentrops. The Rippentrops moved to dismiss, arguing that the State was bound by Solovey's agreement not to bring charges. After several hearings and lengthy briefing, the circuit court concluded that the oral agreement existed, but it was void as contrary to public policy. The court also found that the Rippentrops did not have clean hands, due to their failure to disclose the agreement to the court at the TPR hearing.

The Rippentrops then filed a second motion to dismiss, this time for prosecutorial misconduct. The circuit court granted the motion. It decided that Solovey's conduct violated the Rippentrops' parental rights, their Fifth Amendment right to remain silent, and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

The State appealed, and the court of appeals affirmed on the alternative ground that the non-prosecution agreement was valid and enforceable against the State. The court did not decide whether the trial court had authority to dismiss the criminal cases with prejudice.

This Court should grant review and reverse. The verbal agreement between Solovey and the Rippentrops was void and unenforceable. And the circuit court did not have authority to dismiss the cases with prejudice because jeopardy had not yet attached, and the defendants' constitutional right to a speedy trial was not at issue. Binding precedent from this Court compels reversal for this reason alone. Setting that aside, dismissing criminal cases, especially pre-trial, is a drastic remedy that this Court says must be approached with caution. Numerous interests must be carefully balanced, and courts must consider whether the misconduct impairs the defendants' ability to receive a fair

trial. The circuit court failed to engage in this analysis, and therefore, it erroneously exercised its discretion. Even if the proper analysis had been conducted, it would firmly establish that dismissal is not the proper remedy.

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

the former district attorney's verbal 1. Was agreement with the Rippentrops void and unenforceable because it was contrary to public policy and the unclean hands doctrine precluded its enforcement?

The circuit court answered yes.

The court of appeals answered no, and concluded that the agreement was enforceable and binding against the State.

This Court should grant review and answer yes.

Did the circuit court have authority to dismiss the Rippentrops' criminal cases with prejudice on the ground of defendants' the when prosecutorial misconduct, constitutional right to a speedy trial was not implicated, and when the circuit court did not make findings as to whether the Rippentrops would receive a fair trial notwithstanding the misconduct?

The circuit court did not directly address this question, but implicitly answered yes.

The court of appeals did not address the question.

This Court should grant review and answer no.

## STATEMENT OF CRITERIA FOR GRANTING REVIEW

This case meets two of the court's criteria for review. A decision from this Court on the first issue will help develop, clarify or harmonize the law, and "[t]he question presented is a novel one, the resolution of which will have statewide impact." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)2. Very little case law exists with respect to non-prosecution agreements. State v. Rippentrop, Nos. 2022AP92-CR, 2022AP93-CR, 2023 WL 2169787, ¶ 40 (Wis. Ct. App. Feb. 23, 2023) (recommended for publication). The agreement in this case involves the intersection of criminal law and the Wisconsin's Children's Code, because it involves a requirement that the parents terminate their parental rights in exchange for non-prosecution. Prosecutors and the public would benefit from this Court's guidance as to how to enter into enforceable non-prosecution agreements that implicate CHIPS or TPR proceedings.

The second issue presents "[a] real and significant question of federal or state constitutional law." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(a). It concerns the intersection of prosecutorial discretion to bring criminal charges with the Rippentrops' allegation that their state and federal constitutional rights were violated.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Conduct underlying charges.

According to the criminal complaints, when Mark was a young adolescent, he ran away from home, and law enforcement recovered him. (R. 1:2.) Mark reported that he had been regularly restrained at his house for over a year. (R. 1:2.) He reported that his parents would tape his hands behind his back, and he was in some form of restraint "24 hours a day seven days a week." (R. 1:2.) In addition to the wrist restraints, his parents often blindfolded him by placing a hand towel over his head, with tape securing it to prevent him from seeing anything within the home. (R. 1:2–3.) Mark stated that every night at bedtime, he was tied up and blindfolded. (R. 1:3.) He reported being placed in a tent-like enclosure, which was monitored via closed circuit video. (R. 1:3.)

During a non-custodial interview, Debra told law enforcement that she and Steven had "taken drastic measures as a result of [Mark's] poor behavior." (R. 1:4.) Debra said she got to a "desperation point" and came up with restraining Mark by use of tape and blindfolding him with the towel. (R. 1:4.) Debra had been restraining Mark in this fashion for approximately one year, and Mark was taped for a portion of virtually every day. (R. 1:4.) In public, Mark did not wear the restraints. (R. 1:5.) The Rippentrops' extended family was not aware of the restraints. (R. 1:5.)

## B. Criminal investigation and CHIPS proceeding.

The Juneau County Sheriff's Department referred the matter to former District Attorney Solovey to consider criminal charges. *Rippentrop*, 2023 WL 2169787, ¶ 9. In addition to the criminal investigation, county corporation counsel initiated a CHIPS case. *Id.* The Rippentrops retained Attorney Kerry Sullivan-Flock to represent them in the CHIPS case. *Id.* 

Solovey did not immediately file charges against the Rippentrops. (R. 41:12–14.) After speaking to county officials and Mark's foster care provider, however, Solovey concluded that it would not be in Mark's best interest to return to the Rippentrop home. *Rippentrop*, 2023 WL 2169787, ¶ 11. He believed that Mark did not want to return to the home either. (R. 41:22.)

## C. Solovey's oral agreement with the Rippentrops.

On October 8, 2015, Solovey met with Attorney Sullivan-Flock and the Rippentrops. *Rippentrop*, 2023 WL 2169787, ¶ 12. Solovey made an oral proposal: he would not bring criminal charges related to the abuse, if the Rippentrops fulfilled certain conditions, including terminating their

parental rights to Mark. *Id.* A week later, Sullivan-Flock informed Solovey that the Rippentrops agreed to the proposal. (R. 41:26.) The agreement was never put in writing.

Solovey informed the Juneau County Sheriff and the lead investigator that day that he had made the Rippentrops a proposal that he was "confident" would be in the best interests of Mark. *Rippentrop*, 2023 WL 2169787, ¶ 13. He further informed them that "at the present time," no criminal charges would be filed. *Id.* Solovey similarly informed Juneau County corporation counsel of his proposal and his decision not to file charges "at the present time." *Rippentrop*, 2023 WL 2169787, ¶ 14.

On November 3, 2015, Sullivan-Flock informed corporation counsel that she and the Rippentrops met with the district attorney and discussed a global resolution that "would require the county's participation at some level." Rippentrop, 2023 WL 2169787, ¶ 15. She also stated that, "[w]ithout disclosing all the details, the concepts of guardianship and termination of parental rights were both discussed." Id. Corporation Counsel responded:

Neither the Department of Human Services nor I knew anything about what the DA was offering. He has not discussed anything with us, which is surprising [because], as you noted, his offer requires the County's participation. Also, I don't think the DA can incorporate termination of parental rights into an agreement. That is extortion. From our standpoint, we are going to proceed down our own track, separate from the criminal aspect, towards a guardianship with the [proposed guardians]. Assuming [they are approved] for placement, I would be willing to dismiss the CHIPS action against the Rippentrops.

Id.

On November 9, 2015, Solovey wrote to a detective with the sheriff's office and informed him they had decided to decline prosecution of the Rippentrops. (R. 31:2.) He stated

that there was "insufficient admissible evidence either to support the filing of criminal charges, or upon which a jury could find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that these defendants or either of them, had a criminal intent or were legally reckless in regard to their treatment of [Mark]." (R. 31:2.) Solovey said he would revisit his decision if "further admissible evidence is brought to my attention." (R. 31:2.)<sup>3</sup>

#### D. The John Doe proceeding.

County officials "blew up" when Solovey told them of his decision not to prosecute. (R. 41:33.) To compel a criminal complaint, Juneau County corporation counsel initiated a John Doe proceeding in early 2016. (R. 57:180–81.) Two John Doe hearings were held to determine whether there was probable cause to support criminal charges against the Rippentrops, and whether a special prosecutor should be appointed. (R. 36; 39; 57:181.)

Solovey made an appearance at the John Doe hearings. While he was not permitted to formally participate, the court allowed him to give brief statements. (R. 36:96–102; 39:9–10; 41:38, 41.) Solovey maintained that there was not probable cause to support criminal charges.

At the conclusion of the hearings, the court found probable cause to believe that the Rippentrops committed a crime with respect to their treatment of Mark. (R. 36:82–89.) The court referred the case to a special prosecutor. (R. 36:90– 91.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> At various points, Solovey stated that he saw a "variety of problems" with prosecuting the case, and further stated that he was waiting for "a comprehensive personality study of the victim." (R. 41:17–18.) According to Solovey, as of October 2015, he had still not received the investigations he had been promised. (R. 41:22-23.)

At no point did Solovey inform the John Doe court or corporation counsel of the details of the non-prosecution agreement with the Rippentrops. (R. 67:35–36.) Nor did he notify the court presiding over the John Doe hearing or special prosecutor of the non-prosecution agreement. (R. 40:10–11; 67:65.)

## E. The TPR proceeding.

Corporation counsel initiated a TPR proceeding against the Rippentrops with respect to Mark. (R. 57:173.) The Rippentrops appeared at a hearing in that matter on June 6, 2016, where they testified in support of terminating their parental rights. (R. 51.)

Attorney Sullivan-Flock led the Rippentrops through testimony at that hearing. Debra testified that no one had promised her anything in order to get her to reach her decision to terminate her parental rights for Mark. (R. 67:109–10; 51:15.) When asked if anybody threatened her or coerced her in any way to get her to reach this decision, Debra answered "no." (R. 67:110; 51:15.) Steven was asked substantially similar questions and gave substantially similar answers. (R. 67:110; see also 51:22–25.) At no point did the Rippentrops or their attorney inform the judge about the agreement with Solovey. (R. 67:110.)

# F. Criminal proceedings commence, and the trial court rules that the non-prosecution agreement is void and unenforceable.

At the conclusion of the John Doe proceeding, the Sauk County District Attorney was appointed special prosecutor for the Rippentrop cases. (R. 40:16; 67:74–75.) After current Juneau County District Attorney Kenneth Hamm took office, he took the case back, due to the Sauk County District Attorney's workload. (R. 67:75.) DA Hamm decided to file charges.

The State filed complaints against the Rippentrops in February 2019. (R. 1.) The Rippentrops moved to dismiss the cases on the ground that Solovey agreed not to prosecute them if they voluntarily terminated their parental rights. (R. 13.) The Rippentrops contended that charging them constituted a breach of the agreement. (R. 13:2.) They asked for a court order enforcing the agreement and dismissing the charges. (R. 13:2.)

The parties engaged in extensive briefing on the matter. (R. 19; 21; 26; 27; 61; 63; 64.) Several evidentiary hearings were held. (R. 40; 41; 57.)

In an oral ruling on October 30, 2020, the circuit court found that the unwritten agreement existed. (R. 67:111.) The court commented that it did not think Solovey had the authority to enter into the agreement, but "he did the deal and he's the State." (R. 67:104.) The court thought both Solovey and Sullivan-Flock had engaged in unethical conduct. (R. 67:105.)

The court also found that the Rippentrops, through the questions Sullivan-Flock posed at the TPR hearing, failed to disclose a material fact to the court, namely, that they had agreed to give up their parental rights so they would not be prosecuted. (R. 67:109–11.) That meant the Rippentrops did not have clean hands, "and, therefore, the contract would have been void just based on that." (R. 67:111.)

Further, the court ruled that the contract was void because it was against public policy to have such a contract. (R. 67:111–12.)

## G. The trial court dismisses the criminal cases for prosecutorial misconduct.

A year later, the defense moved to dismiss the cases on the ground that Solovey committed prosecutorial misconduct. (R. 76.) Case 2022AP000092 Petition for Review Filed 03-24-2023 Page 15 of 33

In an oral ruling on December 1, 2021, the circuit court granted the defendants' motion to dismiss. The court ruled that the defendants' speedy trial right was not implicated. (R. 89:51.) But Solovey's actions "clearly" constituted misconduct. (R. 89:47.) The court considered the appropriate remedy in light of that misconduct. (R. 89:47.)

The court acknowledged that "to show prosecutor misconduct, which would require dismissal of this case, a defendant usually has to show that a prosecutor willfully engaged in misconduct and that the misconduct was prejudicial to the defendant." (R. 89:51–52.) "But then there's case law I believe on point that says, even when the prosecutor did not act intentionally, a Court may still dismiss a case if the act of the prosecutor affected constitutional or fundamental rights in a substantial manner." (R. 89:52.) In the court's view, Solovey "violated the defendants' due process rights, parental rights, and their right to remain silent by his actions." (R. 89:51.)

While the court "hate[d]" its ruling because a potential victim would not have his day in court, the court ruled that Solovey violated the defendants' constitutional rights "and the only recourse" for maintaining the integrity of the judicial system was dismissal of the cases. (R. 89:52.) The court entered an order of dismissal on December 6, 2021. (R. 81.)

H. The Wisconsin Court of Appeals affirms the circuit court's ruling on the alternative ground that the agreement was valid and enforceable.

The State appealed. The court of appeals affirmed the circuit court on the alternative ground that the agreement must be enforced against the State, thereby overturning the circuit court's earlier ruling that the agreement was void and unenforceable.

The court held that the State had not met its burden to show that the agreement was void as against public policy.4 Further, the court was not concerned that neither the former DA nor the Rippentrops disclosed their agreement to the TPR court or the John Doe court. The court "assume[d] without deciding" that, had the non-prosecution agreement required either party to withhold relevant information from those courts, it might be void on public policy grounds. Rippentrop, 2023 WL 2169787, ¶ 62. The court also found that requiring enforcement of the contract was the "most equitable" thing to do, considering "substantive due process and principles of fundamental fairness." Rippentrop, 2023 WL 2169787,  $\P$  68.

The State now seeks this Court's review.

### ARGUMENT

A decision from this Court as to the agreement's I. will help develop enforceability pertaining to non-prosecution agreements.

The circuit court found that the unwritten nonprosecution agreement existed. But the court concluded that it was invalid for two reasons: (1) it was void as a matter of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The State appealed the circuit court's adverse ruling that the cases must be dismissed with prejudice; it did not appeal the circuit court's earlier, favorable ruling that the agreement was void and unenforceable. Thus, the State only addressed the agreement's non-enforceability in its reply, after the Rippentrops argued that dismissal could be affirmed on this alternative ground.

<sup>5</sup> A valid contract consists of an offer, acceptance, and consideration. Piaskoski & Assocs. v. Ricciardi, 2004 WI App 152, ¶ 7, 275 Wis. 2d 650, 686 N.W.2d 675. The existence of these elements are factual questions, not legal ones. Id. While the State challenged the existence of the contract in circuit court, the circuit court found that the agreement existed, and the State does not challenge that ruling on appeal.

public policy; and (2) it was unenforceable because the Rippentrops did not have clean hands. (R. 67:111.) The court of appeals reached the opposite conclusion, and held that the agreement was valid and must be enforced against the State.

This Court should grant this petition. A decision from this Court as to the agreement's enforceability will help develop, clarify, and harmonize the law. Non-prosecution agreements are common, but caselaw on non-prosecution agreements is slim. And resolution of the novel question presented (incorporating a requirement that the parents terminate their rights to a child) will have statewide impact. Prosecutors and the public would benefit from this Court's guidance as to how to enter into enforceable non-prosecution agreements that implicate CHIPS or TPR proceedings.

The agreement in this case is not enforceable as a matter of law because it was contrary to public policy. Further, the Rippentrops, acting through their TPR attorney, did not have clean hands, and the circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it declined to order that the agreement be enforced.

## A. This agreement was void because it was contrary to public policy.

The application of public policy considerations to a contract is a question of law that appellate courts review de novo. Northern States Power Co. v. National Gas Co. Inc., 2000 WI App 30, ¶ 7, 232 Wis. 2d 541, 606 N.W.2d 613.

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