RECEIVED 04-18-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal Nos. 2022AP92-CR & 2022AP93-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

v.

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

STEVEN E. RIPPENTROP and DEBRA L. RIPPENTROP,

Defendants-Respondents-Respondents.

DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT-RESPONDENTS' RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JEREMIAH WOLFGANG MEYER-O'DAY Attorney at Law State Bar No. 1091114

Martinez & Ruby, LLP

620 8th Avenue Baraboo, WI 53913 (608) 355-2000 jeremiah@martinezandruby.com Attorneys for Defendants-Respondents-Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

I. Contrary to the State's argument in its petition for review, there is nothing novel, special, or unusual about the court of appeals' decision in this matter, and as such, this Court's criteria for review have not been met.

The State argues in its petition for review that this case involves a novel issue whose resolution will have statewide impact and that it also involves a "real and significant question of federal or state constitutional law." Petition, 8-9 (quoting Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(a)). Both assertions are false. First, while it is true that there is not an abundance of law on the subject of nonprosecution agreements, it is false to say that there is none, and it is therefore also false to say that the question presented is in any sense novel. Caselaw has already been established holding that: (1) nonprosecution agreements are within the authority of a prosecutor to enter into with potential defendants when, in the exercise of the prosecutor's discretion doing so will further the interests of justice, see Jones, 217 Wis. 2d at 64-65; (2) nonprosecution agreements are to be analyzed using the same principles which surround plea bargains, and as such, a breach of a nonprosecution agreement, like an alleged breach of a plea agreement, must be material and substantial to warrant relief, see State v. Lukensmeyer, 140 Wis.2d 92, 102, 409 N.W.2d 395 (Ct. App. 1987); (3) the party seeking to invalidate a nonprosecution agreement must prove a material and substantial breach of the agreement by clear and convincing evidence, but most only prove one such breach in order to obtain relief from the agreement, see State v. Whitman, 160 Wis.2d 260, 268, 466 N.W.2d 193 (Ct. App. 1991); and (4) nonprosecution agreements, because they are precharging decisions authorized by the nature of the district attorney's nearly limitless discretion to charge or not charge crimes, are not governed by Wis. Stat. § 972.08 (the statute governing post-charging offers of immunity) and thus not subject to judicial scrutiny, see State v. Miller, 231 Wis. 2d 447, 465, 605 N.W.2d 567 (Ct. App. 1999).

Further, as was noted in *Jones*, this Court has on at least one occasion implicitly approved of nonprosecution agreements, *see State v. Nerison*, 136 Wis.2d 37, 45, 401 N.W.2d 1 (1987) (holding that nonprosecution agreements entered into by a district attorney in exchange for testimony against another person were not corrupt and implicitly holding that the agreements were valid). And, as the *Jones* court also stated, "it is important to note that the case law is replete with instances in which a district attorney during the course of a criminal investigation entered into a nonprosecution agreement in exchange for information or testimony against a defendant . . . [and i]n none of these cases has it ever been questioned whether the practice of nonprosecution agreements is an invalid exercise of a district attorney's discretionary power." *Jones*, 217 Wis.2d at 66.

The State attempts to manufacture a novel question by noting that this case involves the intersection of criminal law with the Children's Code, but this is merely a specific application of general principles of law to a specific set of facts. As was noted in the court of appeals decision in this matter, there is nothing in Wis. Stat. § 48.41 that precludes parties from entering into agreements a portion of which require one party to voluntarily terminate their parental rights, and there is nothing in the law surrounding plea bargains that would render an otherwise voluntary plea involuntary simply because the defendant had to make a choice between competing fundamental rights. See Rippentrop, ¶¶53-54. It bears repeating the court of appeals' observation in this case that this Court has explained that ""[a] voluntary and intelligent choice always involves two or more alternatives, each having some compelling power of acceptance," and "[t]he fact that a defendant must make a choice between two reasonable alternatives and take the consequences [of that choice] is not coercive of the choice finally made." Id., ¶54 (quoting Rahhal v. State, 52 Wis.2d 144, 151, 187 N.W.2d 800 (1971)).

The State also argues that because this case involves a claim by the defendants that their prosecution in this matter violates their due process rights in a situation involving an exercise of prosecutorial discretion, it thus presents a real and substantial question of federal or state federal law and therefore merits this Court's review pursuant to the criteria specified at Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(a). This is nonsense, as the intersection of prosecutorial discretion with state and federal rights to due process in the conceptually quite similar

area of the enforcement of plea bargains is very welldeveloped, and there is no question here that there was a nonprosecution agreement, that the Rippentrops relied upon said agreement to their detriment, and that their due process rights are implicated simply because they acted in reliance upon a promise made by the State. *See Castillo*, 205 Wis.2d at 607. In fact, the law has been clear for a very long time that a prosecutor who violates any promise made to a person who has detrimentally relied upon that promise has violated that person's right to due process. *See, e.g., Bond*, 139 Wis.2d at 188 ("Once a defendant has [detrimentally] relied upon a prosecutorial promise in any way and the state does not fulfill its promise, the promise is to be held enforceable against the state.").

The State also attempts to analogize this matter to the situation in *Jezeski v. Jezeski*, 2009 WI App. 8, 316 Wis.2d 178, 763 N.W.2d 176 is completely inapt; there, the court of appeals invalidated a contract to hide assets from a spouse and family court during the course of a divorce proceeding because it found that the contract assisted one of the spouses in violating a specific disclosure requirement in a civil statute which provided for a penalty for its violation, namely, Wis. Stat. § 767.127(1). *Id.*, ¶¶13-14.

Here, the statute upon which the State relies is Wis. Stat. § 48.41, specifically § 48.41(2)(a), which reads in full as follows:

The parent appears personally at the hearing and gives his or her consent to the termination of his or her parental rights. The judge may accept the consent only after the judge has explained the effect of termination of parental rights and has questioned the parent, or has permitted an attorney who represents any of the parties to question the parent, and is satisfied that the consent is informed and voluntary.

Wis. Stat. § 48.41(2)(a). As can be seen, Wis. Stat. § 48.41(2)(a) does not require anything of the parties to a voluntary termination of parental rights proceeding other than that the parents personally appear and submit to questioning, either from the court or their attorney, designed to ensure that their consent to termination of their parental rights is intelligent and voluntary, nor does it provide for any penalty to be levied against the parties should the statute be violated. Further, nothing in the statute or other caselaw suggests that a parent's failure to be completely candid with a TPR court in any way renders the parent's consent to termination of their parental rights either unintelligent or involuntary, and nothing in the record here suggests that the Rippentrops' consent to termination of their parental rights was in any way involuntary or unintelligent.

As such, and contrary to the State's argument, this case does not present a novel question of statewide importance, but rather involves the application of settled law to a specific fact pattern, and as a further result, this case does not satisfy the criteria for this Court's review specified at Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c)2. This Court accordingly should deny review.

II. The unclean hands doctrine simply does not apply here, as there is no connection between the Rippentrop's less than complete candor with the TPR court and the nonprosecution agreement, as it did not require the Rippentrops to either withhold or provide any particular information to the TPR court, but rather only required that they in fact voluntarily terminate their parental rights, and as such, settled law dictates that the unclean hands

doctrine does not apply, and review by this court is unnecessary.

As was noted by the court of appeals in footnote 12 of its decision in this matter, unclean hands cannot be raised as a defense to enforcement of a contract via an order for specific performance where, as here, the party seeking specific performance's own wrongdoing did not cause the evil of which that party complains. *Kaczmarski*, 320 Wis.2d 811, ¶15. First, it is not clear that there was in fact any wrongdoing at all on the Rippentrops' part, and if there was, it was when they stated that they had not been promised anything in exchange for agreeing to terminate their parental rights during the course of the TPR proceeding. Second, that wrongdoing, if wrongdoing it was, has literally no connection at all with the evil the Rippentrops complain of here, namely, the State's violation of its promise not to criminally prosecute them for their alleged abuse of A.B.

Nothing in either law or logic establishes any sort of connection between the Rippentrops' alleged failure of candor to the TPR court and the State's decision to violate the nonprosecution agreement; in fact, corporation counsel knew of the nonprosecution agreement and its requirement that the Rippentrops voluntarily terminate their parental rights when that same counsel initiated the John Doe proceeding which ultimately spurred the issuance of the complaint in this matter. (R48: 1-2; R52: 1-2).

If anything, corporation counsel's determination, knowing of the nonprosecution agreement, to both accept the benefit of the agreement by drafting and filing the Rippentrops' petition for voluntary termination of their parental rights to A.B. and then turn around and seek to force the State to violate that agreement by having criminal charges issued constitutes the egregious misconduct in this case. If anyone's hands are unclean here, it is those of the county and the State. None of that in any way justifies refusing to enforce the nonprosecution agreement, quite the contrary, and as such, this Court should deny review.

- III. The State's Remaining arguments are also the subject of well-settled law, and moreover were not addressed by the court of appeals, and as such, the issues involved do not merit this Court's review.
- A. The State's Conduct Here, If It Was In Fact Misconduct As Found By The Circuit Court, Prejudiced The Rippentrops In Violation Of Their Right To Due Process.

None of what follows was addressed by the court of appeals, owing to the fact that it decided the case based on the alternative ground that the circuit court erred in failing to grant the Rippentrops' motion for specific performance of the nonprosecution agreement discussed above. That said, the Rippentrops in the interest of completeness will address alternative grounds for believing the court of appeals' decision to be correct at least in the mandate.

To begin, the Rippentrops concede that the State is correct in stating the holding in *State v. Braunsdorf*, 98 Wis. 2d 569, 586, 297 N.W.2d 808 (1980): "trial courts of this state do not possess the power to dismiss a criminal case with prejudice prior to the attachment of jeopardy except in the case of a violation of a constitutional right to a speedy trial." That said, that holding, while clear and unambiguous, cannot be completely true, as it is also clear that courts in the State of Wisconsin do possess the power to dismiss a case where improper tactics on the part of the state result in substantial prejudice to the defendant, such that continuation of the prosecution would represent a denial of due process. In a much more recent case than *Braunsdorf*, the Supreme Court of Wisconsin held as follows:

Where a defendant seeks to avoid prosecution based upon prosecutorial delay, it is clear that it must be shown that the defendant has suffered actual prejudice arising from the delay and that the delay arose from an improper motive or purpose such as to gain a tactical advantage over the accused.

State v. McGuire, 2010 WI 91, ¶45, 328 Wis.2d 289, 786 N.W.2d 227. It is at least implicit in this statement of law that any dismissal for prosecutorial delay must be with prejudice; if it were not, the remedy would be meaningless in that it would fail to accord any benefit to the defendant other than further delay, an absurd result.

The State acknowledges that *McGuire* exists, but asserts that the circuit court made no finding that the delay was due to prosecutorial impropriety, and further that the court made no finding that there was any prejudice to the Rippentrops flowing from any such impropriety. The first assertion appears to read out the language "such as to gain" out of *McGuire*'s holding and implicitly reads that holding as requiring that only delay so as to gain a tactical advantage over the accused is sufficient to make out a prejudicial delay due process violation requiring dismissal.

This reading turns language which is clearly meant to signify a non-exhaustive list into an exclusive condition, and is therefore incorrect. *See, e.g., United States v. Chappell*, 854 F.2d 190, 195 (7th Cir. 1988) ("A pre-indictment delay will not violate due process unless the defendant is able to prove that the delay caused actual and substantial prejudice to his or her fair trial rights and that the government delayed

indictment for tactical advantage or *some other impermissible reason.*") (emphasis added).

Here, the State's argument ignores the fact that the circuit court did indeed find that the delay in charging and prosecuting these matters arose from what it believed to be an improper purpose on the part of the State – to coerce the Rippentrops into voluntarily agreeing to terminate their parental rights to Mark. (R67: 112). If the circuit court was correct that in particular then-DA Solovey's agreement with the Rippentrops to decline to prosecute them so long as they did in fact voluntarily terminate their parental rights to Mark constituted misconduct and was unethical, then a substantial portion of the delay in prosecuting the Rippentrops arose from an improper motive on the part of the State, and as such, the improper purpose prong of the *McGuire* due process analysis is satisfied. Further, in light of the fact that corporation counsel was aware of the nonprosecution agreement and the fact of the Rippentrops' detrimental reliance upon it, the fact that corporation counsel sought issuance of a complaint against the Rippentrops without regard to the promises made by the State to them is in itself serious misconduct.

As to prejudice, the State is once again incorrect in asserting that the circuit court did not find that the Rippentrops were prejudiced by the State's improper delay in proceeding against them in these matters. To begin, the child in need of protection or services (CHIPS) proceedings and concurrent referral for criminal charges to then-DA Solovey took place in August of 2015 (R57: 9), and the termination of parental rights proceeding (TPR) regarding Mark took place in June of 2016 (R57: 12). The complaint in this matter was not filed until February 19, 2019, nearly three years after the conclusion of the TPR proceeding and nearly 40 months after the initial criminal referral. This in itself is a substantial delay, and said delay arose solely because of the conduct on then-DA Solovey's part which the circuit court found to constitute misconduct.

The circuit court found all of the following regarding the prejudice to the Rippentrops arising from the decision to charge them regardless of the agreement between the Rippentrops and the now-former Juneau County District Attorney: that the State's conduct had violated the Rippentrops' due process rights, their rights to remain silent, and their fundamental right to parent their child. (R89: 51). And while the circuit court did not elaborate on why it believed that the Rippentrops' right to due process was violated by continuation of the prosecution of these cases, they asserted in their motion to dismiss for prosecutorial misconduct all of the following:

■ Exercising their right to remain silent: As a result of former DA Solovey's promise, the Defendants made statements regarding the underlying allegations that they would not have otherwise made. Such statements include agreeing, under oath, to the factual background of a report prepared by Juneau County Human Services at the June 6, 2016 termination of parental rights hearing.

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